#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,	) ) ) Crim. No. S198434
Plaintiff and Respondent, v.	SUPREME COURT FILED
ZACHARY EDWARD DAVIS,	MAY <b>3 1</b> 2012
Defendant and Appellant.	Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk
	Deputy

Second Appellate District, Div. 4, No. B229615 Los Angeles County Superior Court, No. BA367204 The Honorable Barbara R. Johnson, Judge

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Carla Castillo
State Bar No. 132527
castilloatlaw@sbcglobal.net
1563 Solano Avenue, PMB 286
Berkeley, CA 94707
(510) 527-1948

Attorney for Appellant Appointed by the Supreme Court

#

## **QUESTION PRESENTED**

In the absence of expert testimony or a stipulation that MDMA/Ecstasy was a controlled substance or an analog of a controlled substance, did the Court of Appeal correctly hold that substantial evidence supports defendant's convictions?

#### INTRODUCTION

Zachary Davis was convicted of selling and the possession of MDMA, which is not specifically listed as a controlled substance in the Health and Safety Code. Therefore, evidence sufficient to support convictions for possession or sale of MDMA must demonstrate MDMA contains a statutorily-listed controlled substance or that it meets the definition of a controlled substance analog. In this case, the prosecution failed to produce "a stipulation [] or expert testimony showing that MDMA meets the definition of a controlled substance or controlled substance analog". (Slip Opin., p. 5.) In a similar case, Division Two of the same court found the evidence was insufficient to prove MDMA was a controlled substance when no expert testimony or a stipulation was presented at trial to support that finding. (People v. Le (S197493, on grant and hold; formerly at 198 Cal.App.4th 1031.) Division Four did not find Le's reasoning persuasive. "If we were to follow Le, we would have to overturn appellant's conviction[.]" (Slip Opin., p. 5.)

The prosecution's evidence showed the pills purchased from Davis by the undercover officer contained MDMA. However, the criminalist who made this determination never testified MDMA contains a listed controlled substance. Nor did he testify the chemical structure or effects of MDMA were substantially similar to a listed controlled substance. A police officer testified about how long someone would experience the effects of MDMA,

but he never described what those effects were. Thus, the testimony from the criminalist and undercover officer failed to prove MDMA contained a controlled substance or was a controlled substance analog. Notwithstanding this shortfall of evidence, since the criminalist had determined the pills were methylene-dioxy*methamphetamine*, the appellate court held "common sense ... supports the inference that the pills appellant sold . . . contained methamphetamine." (*Id.* at p. 6, emphasis added.)

The Court of Appeal then took judicial notice of scientific treatises to buttress its conclusion. "The scientific name of MDMA thus accurately reflects that it is derived from methamphetamine and amphetamine." (*Id.* at p. 7.) However, the appellate court's decision to consult learned treatises to establish MDMA contains, or is derived from, methamphetamine demonstrates jurors cannot make that finding by applying common sense. Expert testimony is necessary to help the jury determine whether methylenedioxymethamphetamine is a mere commingling of chemicals, where methamphetamine retains its separate existence, or is a chemical compound, a new substance with different chemical properties. Similarly, an expert is necessary before the jury can determine whether MDMA has a chemical structure or effect similar to a listed controlled substance.

The Court of Appeal's resort to judicial notice of scientific treatises to bolster its sufficiency finding unequivocally demonstrates the chemical nature of a substance not statutorily listed as a controlled substance calls for

expert testimony. Lacking that expert testimony, or any relevant stipulation, the prosecution's evidence in this case did not support a finding of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. On this record it is evident the Court of Appeal did not correctly hold substantial evidence supported Davis's convictions because it improperly developed an additional factual record to support an essential element of the charged crimes. Reversal is therefore required.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### **Proceedings in the Trial Court**

Petitioner, Zachary Edward Davis, was charged with sale and possession for sale of a controlled substance, "methylenedioxymethamphetamine (Ecstasy)." (Health & Saf. Code, §§ 11379, subd. (a); 11378; all further statutory references are to the Health and Safety Code, unless otherwise noted.) (CT 29-30.) A jury found Davis guilty of the sale of a controlled substance and guilty of the lesser-included offense of possession of a controlled substance. (CT 84.) The trial court sentenced Davis to three years of formal probation. (CT 92.)

#### The Appellate Court's Decision

On appeal, petitioner challenged his convictions on the ground the evidence was insufficient to support the verdicts because MDMA was not explicitly banned as a controlled substance under the Health and Safety Code and the jury heard no evidence MDMA either contained, or was an analog of, a banned controlled substance.

On October 26, 2011, in a published decision, the Second District Court of Appeal, Division Four, disagreed, finding the evidence sufficient The conviction. appellate recognized to support the court methylenedioxymethamphetamine, also known as MDMA or "Ecstasy", is not listed as a controlled substance in sections 11377, 11379, 11054 or 11055. (See Slip Opin., pp. 3-4.) However, it noted section 11055, subdivisions (d)(1) and (d)(2) did include the "salts, isomers, and salts of its isomers" of both amphetamine (subd. (d)(1)) and methamphetamine (subd. (d)(2)) as controlled substances. (Slip Opin., p 3.) The appellate court also noted section 11055, subdivision (d), provided "any material, compound, mixture, or preparation' containing 'any quantity' of several substances having a 'stimulant effect on the central nervous system,' including amphetamine and methamphetamine, is a controlled substance." (Ibid.) It further noted methylenedioxy amphetamine (MDA) was identified as a controlled substance in section 11054, subdivision (d)(6), and that subdivision (d) of that section included "any material, compound, mixture, or preparation' containing 'any quantity' or any 'salts, isomers, and salts of isomers' of any listed hallucinogenic substance, including MDA." (Slip Opin., pp. 3-4.) The appellate court stated an analog of a statutorily controlled substance is treated no differently than the listed controlled substance when its chemical structure is substantially similar to an

explicitly named controlled substance or in its effect. (Slip Opin., p. 4, citing to §11401, subds. (a) & (b).)

The appellate court thus concluded if MDMA contained amphetamine, methamphetamine or MDA, or could be defined as a controlled substance analog, then MDMA "may be treated as a controlled substance[.]" (Slip Opin., p. 4.) Citing *People v. Becker* (2010) 182 Cal.App.4th 1151 (*Becker*) and *People v. Silver* (1991) 230 Cal.App.3d 389 (*Silver*), the appellate court found that although expert testimony in those cases demonstrated MDMA was an analog of methamphetamine, such expert testimony was unnecessary to uphold the verdict. (Slip Opin., p. 5.) Instead, the appellate court found "common sense ... supports the inference that the pills appellant sold . . . contained methamphetamine" since MDMA's chemical name included the term "methamphetamine" and did not include "any suffix or term negating the inference (e.g., 'pseudo')". (Slip Opin., p. 6.)

In so holding, Division Four of the Second District Court of Appeal expressly disagreed with and declined to follow the decision of its sister division, Division Two, in *People v. Le* (S197493), another MDMA prosecution. The *Le* court reversed the defendant's conviction for transportation for sale and possession for sale of a controlled substance because the prosecution failed to offer expert testimony showing "the language of a controlled substance statute or the analog statute has been

satisfied." (Slip Opin. p. 5, quoting from Le.) In sum, Division Four decided common sense was an adequate substitute for expert testimony.

Finally, to further bolster its conclusion the evidence was sufficient to "infer[] that MDMA contains some quantity of methamphetamine or amphetamine under section 11044, subdivision (d)", the appellate court took judicial notice under Evidence Code, section 452, subd. (h), of scientific treatises to find the component elements of MDMA's chemical name "include methamphetamine and, by extension, amphetamine." (Slip Opin., p. 7; see Evid. Code, § 452 ["Judicial notice may be taken of the following matters to the extent that they are not embraced within Section 451: (h) Facts and propositions that are not reasonably subject to dispute and are capable of immediate and accurate determination by resort to sources of reasonably indisputable accuracy"].) The appellate court did so despite the prosecution's failure to present any such evidence for the jury's consideration at trial.

#### **Grant of Review**

On December 5, 2011, Davis filed for review. This court granted review January 11, 2012, ordering briefing and argument as stated above.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS<sup>1</sup>

On New Year's Eve, 2009, Zachary Davis sold some blue pills to Los Angeles undercover officer Romeo Rubalcava. (2 RT 342, 345, 346, 349.) A criminalist analyzed the pills and determined they were methylenedioxymethamphetamine (MDMA or Ecstasy). (2 RT 707-708.) The criminalist did not describe the chemical composition of methylenedioxymethamphetamine nor did he explain what it contained, or if it had a chemical structure or effect substantially similar to a controlled substance.

The undercover officer who purchased the pills had never before attempted to purchase MDMA and knew little about it. (2 RT 366, 367.) As a serviceman living in Croatia in the late 1990's, Rubalcava had spoken to users on the street who had described Ecstasy's effects. (2 RT 364, 365, 388.) From his training, Rubalcava knew the effects of one Ecstasy pill could last up to 24 hours, with onset of its effects occurring after 30 to 60 minutes. Maximization of its effects took place between 1 1/2 and 3 hours. The effect was halved at approximately 8 hours. (2 RT 370.) Rubalcava never described those effects.

The facts are limited to those relevant to the issue on review.

#### ARGUMENT

I. EXPERT TESTIMONY IS NEEDED TO ESTABLISH WHETHER MDMA CONTAINS A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE OR IS A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE ANALOG BECAUSE ITS DETERMINATION IS NOT A MATTER OF "COMMON SENSE"

#### A. Introduction

The law criminalizes the possession, sale or transportation of controlled substances or analogs of controlled substances. (See, e.g., §§ 11377–11379.5.) The Health and Safety Code includes extensive lists of what substances are prohibited. (See §§ 11054-11058.) MDMA is not listed as a controlled substance. (See §§ 11054-11058.) In this case, therefore, the prosecution had to prove the pills Davis possessed, identified at trial as MDMA, contained a controlled substance or were a controlled substance analog, i.e., a substance with a chemical structure "substantially similar" to the chemical structure of a listed controlled substance or which has "substantially similar" effects as a listed controlled substance. (§ 11401, subd. (b).)

The prosecution did not present any evidence demonstrating MDMA contained a listed controlled substance or was a controlled substance analog. More specifically, no expert testified MDMA contained a controlled substance, had a chemical structure substantially similar to that of a controlled substance or had substantially similar effects as a controlled substance. There also was no stipulation establishing any of those facts.

Nevertheless, the Court of Appeal found the absence of proof did not matter. In its opinion, the Second District Court of Appeal, Division Four, ruled expert testimony "showing that MDMA meets the definition of a controlled substance or controlled substance analog" was unnecessary. (Slip Opin., pp. 5-6.) In support of its holding, the appellate court noted the prosecution evidence showed MDMA's chemical name, methylenedioxymethamphetamine (see Exh. 12 [laboratory report]), contained the words methamphetamine and amphetamine, both controlled substances listed under the relevant statutes. (Slip Opin., p. 6; see § 11055, subds. (d)(1).) of the thus reasoned inclusion The appellate court "methamphetamine" in MDMA's chemical name, and the absence of "any suffix or term negating the inference (e.g., 'pseudo')", was, as a matter of "common sense", sufficient evidence the pills sold to the undercover officer contained methamphetamine. (Slip Opin., p. 6.) The court further reasoned "MDMA's name demonstrates that it is produced from methamphetamine by the addition of methylenedioxy." (Slip Opin., p. 7.)

When the appellate court relied on common sense to hold sufficient evidence existed to prove the blue pills contained methamphetamine, it erred. True, expert testimony is unnecessary when it "would add nothing at all to the jury's common fund of information." (*People v. McAlpin* (1991) 53 Cal.3d 1289, 1300.) Here, however, the issue involved the chemical structure of a chemical compound. Common sense suggests expert

testimony is necessary to make findings about the chemical structure of a compound. When the chemical compound at issue is not listed in the relevant controlled substance statutes, expert testimony (or a stipulation) is required before the average juror can determine whether the object (here, the blue pills) contains a controlled substance or qualifies as a controlled substance analog. In the absence of expert testimony or a stipulation establishing this essential element, there was insufficient evidence to prove beyond a reasonable doubt Davis possessed or sold a controlled substance. His convictions therefore violate his Sixth Amendment right to a jury determination of every element of the crime and right to due process under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments. (See *In re Winship* (1970) 397 U.S. 358, 364; Jackson v. Virginia (1979) 443 U.S. 307, 319; People v. Johnson (1980) 26 Cal.3d 557, 576.) A conviction without adequate support also violates the due process clause of Article I, section 15 of the California Constitution. (*People v. Rowland* (1992) 4 Cal.4th 238, 269.)

# B. Matters Relating to Chemistry Are Not Matters of Common Sense.

Common sense involves a decision "based on a simple perception of the situation or facts." (http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/common%20sense.) In contrast, expert testimony is necessary when the underlying facts are "beyond lay comprehension." (*Franz v. Board of Medical Quality Assurance* (1982) 31 Cal.3d 124,

141(*Franz*).) Chemistry involves facts which are beyond lay comprehension. Therefore, an expert is needed to explain the subject matter of chemistry to jurors. The Court of Appeal thus erred when it held no expert testimony was required to prove MDMA contains methamphetamine on the basis common sense was enough to make that determination.

Common sense does control, precluding any need for expert testimony, when a term before the jury has a "plain, nontechnical meaning." (See, e.g., People v. Eastman (1993) 13 Cal.App.4th 668, 673 ["transport" as used in statute was "commonly understood and of a plain, nontechnical meaning."].) Common sense also is a proper method of reaching a conclusion when the underlying facts are simple and understood by the average layperson. For example, it was "just common sense" to conclude a defendant committed insurance fraud when he sought reimbursement in excess of what he had actually paid for an item. (People Guzman (2011) 201 Cal.App.4th 1090, 1100 ["It requires no sophisticated legal analysis to so conclude. This is just common sense."].) Similarly, in a case involving medical malpractice, expert testimony is unnecessary when "the facts present a medical question resolvable by common knowledge." (Cobbs v. Grant (1972) 8 Cal.3d 229, 236 (Cobbs), citations omitted.) Thus, when a patient suffers a shoulder injury during an appendectomy or, after surgery, the patient has a surgical instrument in his body, "the jury is capable of appreciating and evaluating the significance of such events." (*Id.* at p. 236.)

In contrast, there is no "common sense exception" when the underlying facts are "beyond lay comprehension." (*Franz, supra,* 31 Cal.3d at p. 141, citations omitted.) In *Franz* this court stated the "common knowledge exception" is not a substitute for sufficient evidence when "the basis for the technical findings [must] be shown and an opportunity for rebuttal given." (*Ibid.*, citing to *Cobbs, supra,* 8 Cal.3d at p. 236.)

Cobbs, supra, is an example of a case where expert testimony was required to resolve an issue because it did not involve common sense. In Cobbs the defendant (a doctor) appealed the jury's malpractice verdict. He argued the unanimous opinion of three experts that his decision to operate, and the procedure used, showed due care precluded the jury from finding negligence. (Id. at p. 236.) The plaintiff, on the other hand, argued the jury's verdict was supported "under the recognized exception to the need for medical testimony: the facts present a medical question resolvable by common knowledge." (Ibid.)

This court disagreed, finding the "general rule" requiring expert medical testimony applied. (*Ibid.*) Whether medical malpractice occurred in that case involved the interpretation of x-rays, whether a duodenal ulcer required emergency surgery and conclusions drawn from the plaintiff's stools. "Under such circumstances the common knowledge exception to the

need for expert medical testimony is not applicable." (*Id.* at p. 237.) As this court held, "only an expert would be capable of understanding whether surgery was immediately necessary for plaintiff's well-being." (*Id.* at p. 236.)

Cobbs demonstrates expert testimony is essential "where the facts are not commonly susceptible of comprehension by a lay juror" so the jurors can come to a verdict supported by the evidence. (Ibid.) The same conclusion should be reached in this case. Determining whether MDMA contains a controlled substance such as methamphetamine or is an analog of methamphetamine is a question of chemistry, not common sense. Here, as in Cobbs, the "significance of underlying facts seems beyond lay comprehension." (Franz, supra, 31 Cal.3d at p. 13.) In this case expert testimony was essential before the jury could determine whether MDMA contained a controlled substance or was a controlled substance analog.

C. The Court of Appeal's Mistaken Assertion Regarding How MDMA Is Produced Demonstrates the Need for Expert Testimony to Prove MDMA Contains a Controlled Substance or Is a Controlled Substance Analog.

The need for expert testimony to prove MDMA contained a controlled substance is demonstrated by the appellate court's erroneous reliance on common sense to conclude methylenedioxymethamphetamine is "produced from methamphetamine by the addition of methylenedioxy."

(Slip Opin., p. 7.) This conclusion has a common sense appeal. However, it is wrong. Methylenedioxymethamphetamine is not produced from methamphetamine. "There are four principal precursors which can be used in the manufacture of MDMA []: safrole, isosafrole, piperonal and 3,4methylenedioxyphenyl-2-propanone." (www.emcdda.europa.eu [MDMA]; also see www.erowid.org/chemicals/mdma/mdma faq.shtml#precursors [safrole, isosafrole and MDP-2-P are the most common MDMA precursors].) In contrast, the precursors of methamphetamine are ephedrine and pseudoephedrine. (www.emcdda.europa.eu [methamphetamine]; 720 ILCS 648, § 5 [purpose of Illinois Methamphetamine Precursor Control Act is to make it difficult for people "to obtain methamphetamine's essential ingredient, ephedrine or pseudoephedrine"].) The appellate court's conclusion MDMA "is produced from methamphetamine" finds no support in science.

Expert testimony in *Silver*, *supra*, 230 Cal.App.3d 389 also demonstrates concluding whether MDMA is a controlled substance involves an analysis of its chemical structure, something beyond common knowledge. In *Silver* a lab analyst and a biochemist testified for the prosecution. Neither witness testified it was obvious MDMA contained methamphetamine merely because the word "methamphetamine" was included in its name. The lab technician testified MDMA and

methamphetamine had substantially similar chemical structures. (*Id.* at p. 392.) The biochemist explained, "both compounds contain phenyl propylamines which act as a stimulant; that the addition of a methylene dioxy group would convert methamphetamine into MDMA; and that the addition would not create a substantial difference." (*Id.* at p. 393.) The opinion of both experts, which was contradicted by two defense experts, was based on their knowledge of chemistry, not common sense. Only a chemist, as an expert witness, is capable of determining and informing the jury whether the addition of a methylenedioxy group to a methamphetamine molecule "would not create a substantial difference."

D. MDMA Does Not "Contain" Methamphetamine; It Is a Derivative of Methamphetamine, a New Chemical Compound. Thus Expert Testimony Is Necessary to Determine Whether the Two Chemical Compounds Are Substantially Similar.

United States v. Ching Tan Lo (9th Cir. 2006) 447 F.3d 1212 (Lo) (cert. dism.) demonstrates why "common sense" cannot substitute for expert testimony when the issue involves the question whether a substance contains another chemical substance or is substantially similar in structure to another chemical substance. Lo was convicted of possessing ephedrine knowing it would be used to manufacture a controlled substance. What Lo possessed, however, was not ephedrine; it was the extract of the ma huang

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