In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

(A, Case No. S198434

Plaintiff and Respondent,

SUPREME COURT FILED

ZACHARY EDWARD DAVIS,

v.

NOV 1 4 2012

Defendant and Appellant.

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Second Appellate District, Division Four, Case No. B229615 Los Angeles County Superior Court Case No. BA367204 The Honorable Barbara R. Johnson, Judge

Deputy

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeal correctly held that substantial evidence supports appellant's convictions for possession and sale of MDMA or Ecstasy. Evidence was presented to the jury that appellant possessed and sold blue pills containing MDMA: methylenedioxymethamphetamine. Based on the name of the chemical compound, it was logical to infer that these pills contained amphetamine or methamphetamine. (See http://m.drugabuse.gov/publications/teaching-packets/neurobiology-

ecstasy/section-i/2-define-ecstasy; http://m.drugabuse.gov/sites/default/files /eslide2.gif.) Thus, despite the fact that MDMA is not an enumerated controlled substance in the California Uniform Controlled Substances Act (Health and Safety Code, § 11000 et seq.), MDMA could be deemed a controlled substance within the meaning of section 11055, subdivision (d), which treats as a controlled substance "any material, compound, mixture, or amphetamine contains of preparation which any quantity or amphetamine methamphetamine." Because **MDMA** contains methamphetamine for purposes of the Act, appellant's unlawful sale and possession of the MDMA pills violated section 11377 and section 11379, subdivision (a).

Expert testimony was not required in the trial court because such a determination could be made based upon the common knowledge that chemical compound names detail the composition of the compound. Accordingly, by introducing the chemical compound name of Ecstasy (methylenedioxymethamphetamine), the prosecution presented sufficient evidence that Ecstasy is a controlled substance pursuant to section 11055, subdivision (d). Expert testimony was not required on this topic because reasonable jurors could make such an inference drawing upon the jury's "common fund of information."

Furthermore, contrary to appellant's argument, the prosecution did not need to establish that methamphetamine maintains its "distinct chemical identity within MDMA" in order for MDMA to qualify as a controlled substance under section 11055, subdivision (d). Rather, the statute simply states that any material, compound, mixture, or preparation is a controlled substance if contains any quantity of certain substances, including

¹ All further statutory references are to the Health and Safety Code, unless otherwise stated.

amphetamine and methamphetamine, which have a stimulant effect on the nervous system. Looking at the plain language of the statute, it is clear the Legislature intended to criminalize the possession and sale of all mixtures and preparations which contain *any quantity* of certain banned substances. Contrary to appellant's suggestions, there are no requirements on how to prove the mixture *contains* the banned substance (i.e., only through expert testimony) and no requirement that the banned substance maintain its "distinct chemical identity." For this reason, no testimony (expert or otherwise) was "needed to prove methamphetamine maintains its 'distinct chemical identity' within MDMA."

ARGUMENT

SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTS APPELLANT'S CONVICTIONS FOR SALE AND POSSESSION OF METHYLENEDIOXYMETHAMPHETAMINE

Appellant contends the Court of Appeal incorrectly determined that sufficient evidence supports his convictions in violation of his constitutional rights. Specifically, he claims that the prosecution "failed to produce 'a stipulation [] or expert testimony showing that MDMA meets the definition of a controlled substance or controlled substance analog." (Appellant's Opening Brief on the Merits "AOBM" 2.) According to appellant, "[i]n the absence of expert testimony or a stipulation establishing MDMA contained a listed controlled substance or was a controlled substance analog, the prosecution failed to prove an essential element of the charged crimes beyond a reasonable doubt." (AOBM 28.) Appellant's arguments are without merit. By introducing the chemical compound name of MDMA (methylenedioxymethamphetamine), the prosecution presented sufficient evidence that MDMA contains methamphetamine or

amphetamine and thus is a controlled substance pursuant to section 11055, subdivision (d).

A. Sufficient Evidence Was Presented That Methylenedioxymethamphetamine is a Controlled Substance Within the Meaning of Section 11055, Subdivision (d)

The standard of review governing sufficiency of the evidence claims is well settled.

On appeal, the test of legal sufficiency is whether there is substantial evidence, i.e., evidence from which a reasonable trier of fact could conclude that the prosecution sustained its burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt. Evidence meeting this standard satisfies constitutional due process and reliability concerns. [¶] While the appellate court must determine that the supporting evidence is reasonable, inherently credible, and of solid value, the court must review the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, and must presume every fact the jury could reasonably have deduced from the evidence. Issues of witness credibility are for the jury.

(People v. Boyer (2006) 38 Cal.4th 412, 479-480, internal citations omitted.)

The California Uniform Controlled Substances Act (§ 11000 et seq.) regulates the use, possession, and sale of controlled substances in California. Five sections of the Act each contain a numbered schedule (I-V) listing a variety of controlled substances. (§§ 11054-11058.) For example, amphetamine and methamphetamine are listed in Schedule II as controlled stimulant substances. (§ 11055, subd. (d)(1), (2).) Methylenedioxyamphetamine (MDA) is listed in Schedule I as a hallucinogenic substance. (§ 11054, subd. (d)(6).)

Although MDMA is not an enumerated controlled substance under the California Uniform Controlled Substances Act,² section 11055, subdivision (d) treats as a controlled substance "any material, compound, mixture, or preparation which contains any quantity of [certain] substances having a stimulant effect on the central nervous system." (Emphasis added.) Included within this subdivision are mixtures containing "amphetamine" or "methamphetamine." (§ 11055, subd. (d)(1), (2).) In addition, an analog of a listed controlled substance is treated the same as the listed controlled substance. (§ 11401, subd. (a).) A "controlled substance analog" is defined as a substance that: (1) has a substantially similar chemical structure as the controlled substance, or (2) has, is represented as having, or is intended to have a substantially similar or greater stimulant, depressant, or hallucinogenic effect as the controlled substance. (§ 11401, subd. (b).) Thus, in order for MDMA to be treated as a controlled substance in the instant matter, MDMA must contain one of the enumerated prohibited substances or meet the definition of a controlled substance analog.

As instructed by the trial court in the instant matter, in order to convict a defendant of violating section 11377, the prosecution must prove:

1) the defendant unlawfully possessed a controlled substance; 2) the defendant knew of its presence; 3) the defendant knew of the substance's nature and character as a controlled substance; 4) the substance was Ecstasy; and 5) the controlled substance was in a usable amount. (See CALCRIM No. 2304; 1CT 75; 3RT 923-924.) For a violation of section 11379, subdivision (a), the prosecution must prove: 1) the defendant sold a controlled substance; 2) the defendant knew of its

² As acknowledged by both parties and the Court of Appeal, methylenedioxymethamphetamine (MDMA) is not specifically listed as a controlled substance in these statutes. MDMA is listed as a controlled substance under federal law. (51 Fed.Reg. 36552 (Oct. 14, 1986).)

presence; 3) the defendant knew of the substance's nature or character as a controlled substance; and 4) the controlled substance was methylenedioxymethamphetamine commonly called Ecstasy. (See CALCRIM No. 2300; 1CT 73; 3RT 920-921.)

Here, sufficient evidence was presented that appellant unlawfully possessed and sold MDMA in violation of section 11377 and section 11379, subdivision (a). Indeed, contrary to appellant's contentions, the prosecution did demonstrate that MDMA contained a listed controlled substance, namely amphetamine or methamphetamine, and was, therefore, a controlled substance within the meaning of section 11055, subdivision (d). Specifically, evidence was offered to the jury that the pills possessed and sold by appellant contained MDMA or "Ecstasy." (3RT 707-709.) The jury was further instructed that "Ecstasy" is commonly known as methylenedioxymethamphetamine. (1CT 73-77; 3RT 920-922.) In addition, the lab report that identified the blue pills as 3, 4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine (MDMA) was admitted into evidence as People's Exhibit 12. (3RT 710.) Using common knowledge, it was proper to infer that methylenedioxymethamphetamine contains methamphetamine. (See http://m.drugabuse.gov/ amphetamine or publications/teaching-packets/neurobiology-ecstasy/section-i/2-define-Since http://m.drugabuse.gov/sites/default/files/eslide2.gif.) ecstasy; amphetamine and methamphetamine are defined as controlled substances in section 11055, subdivision (d)(1) and (2), MDMA is necessarily included among the controlled substances subject to section 11377 and section 11379, subdivision (a). Accordingly, appellant's possession and sale of the MDMA pills violated sections 11377 and 11379, subdivision (a).³

³ Indeed, appellant effectively conceded at trial that MDMA constitutes a controlled substance. (See Opinion at p. 10.) When the trial (continued...)

For these reasons, sufficient evidence was presented that methylenedioxymethamphetamine is a controlled substance within the meaning of section 11055, subdivision (d).

B. Expert Testimony Was Not Necessary to Determine Whether Methylenedioxymethamphetamine Contains a Controlled Substance

Appellant argues at length that sufficient evidence does not support his convictions because expert testimony was needed to establish whether MDMA contains a controlled substance. According to appellant, such a determination cannot be a matter of "common sense." (AOBM 9-20.) Appellant's arguments are without merit because even matters related to chemistry or science can be matters of common knowledge.

It is a matter of common knowledge that chemical compound names detail the composition of the compound. (See Zumdahl, Chemical Principles (2nd ed. 1995) § 2.9, p. 39.) Thus, using common knowledge, one could readily infer, for example, that hydrogen peroxide contains hydrogen, and that sodium chloride contains sodium. It is likewise easy to infer that methylenedioxymethamphetamine contains amphetamine or methamphetamine. Contrary to appellant's assertions, the fact that the subject matter involves science or chemistry does not take the matter out of the realm of common knowledge. Indeed, facts are deemed common knowledge if they are matters of common human experience or well known laws of natural science. (*People v. Love* (1961) 56 Cal.2d 720, 732,

^{(...}continued)

court instructed the jury that MDMA was, in fact, a controlled substance, there was no objection from the defense. (3RT 901-902, 920-926.) Furthermore, appellant did not dispute that MDMA was a controlled substance and did not argue to the jury that the prosecution had failed to carry its burden in proving the element. In addition, defense counsel often referred to Ecstasy as a "drug" and a "narcotic." (See, e.g., 3RT 933-1067.)

overruled on other grounds by People v. Morse (1964) 60 Cal.2d 631; see also People v. Thompson (2006) 38 Cal.4th 811, 832, citing In re Martin (1962) 58 Cal.2d 509, 512 ["It is a matter of common knowledge that the intoxicating effect of alcohol diminishes with the passage of time"]; People v. Clark (1993) 5 Cal.4th 950, 1017-1019, overruled on other grounds by People v. Doolin (2009) 45 Cal.4th 390, 421, fn. 22 [it is common knowledge that inferences can be drawn from spatter patterns of blood expelled from the human body]; Simmons v. Rhodes & Jamieson, Limited (1956) 46 Cal.2d 190, 195 ["It is a matter of common knowledge that water activates the lime in cement"]; People v. Mitchell (2003) 110 Cal.App.4th 772, 789 [it is "common knowledge that scent travels through air and that vacuum devices pick up particles"]; Barton v. Owen (1977) 71 Cal.App.3d 484, 494, citing Bardessono v. Michels (1970) 3 Cal.3d 780, 789-790 [there are a "wide variety of cases in which courts have found sufficient common knowledge and observation among laymen, regardless of expert testimony, to indicate 'that the consequences of the professional treatment were not such as ordinarily would have followed if due care had been exercised"]; Putensen v. Clay Adams, Inc. (1970) 12 Cal.App.3d 1062, 1075 ["it is a matter of common knowledge among laymen that the use of a catheter in an artery is not ordinarily harmful unless someone is negligent"]; Brubaker v. Beneficial Standard Life Ins. Co. (1955) 130 Cal.App.2d 340, 345 ["It is a matter of common knowledge that science is constantly increasing the life expectancy of everyone"].)

Moreover, expert testimony is not appropriate "when it would add nothing at all to the jury's common fund of information, i.e., when 'the subject of inquiry is one of such common knowledge that men of ordinary education could reach a conclusion as intelligently as the witness." (People v. McAlpin (1991) 53 Cal.3d 1289, 1300.) Here, as explained above, that methylenedioxymethamphetamine contains amphetamine or

methamphetamine is a concept that can be readily inferred from "common knowledge" such that "men [or women] of ordinary education" could reach such a conclusion without the assistance of an expert. (See *id.*) For this reason, expert testimony is not necessary to prove that MDMA is a controlled substance. It was enough for the prosecution to introduce the full, chemical name of MDMA to know what its components are and whether it contains a controlled substance for purposes of section 11055, subdivision (d).

Appellant further contends that the Court of Appeal's "mistaken assertion' regarding how MDMA is produced demonstrates the need for expert testimony to prove MDMA contains a controlled substance or is a controlled substance analog." (AOBM 14.) Not so. Indeed, how MDMA is actually produced is irrelevant to the determination that MDMA contains any quantity of amphetamine or methamphetamine for purposes of section 11055, subdivision (d). In the instant matter, it was enough for the jury to hear that the pills possessed and sold by appellant were found to be methylenedioxymethamphetamine in order to infer that they therefore contained amphetamine or methamphetamine and were controlled substances within the meaning of section 11055, subdivision (d).

Appellant's argument that *People v. Silver* (1991) 230 Cal.App.3d 389 (*Silver*), mandates the use of expert testimony in the instant matter is unpersuasive. (AOBM 15-16.) In *Silver*, the defendant was convicted of possession for sale and sale of MDMA in violation of sections 11378 and 11379. At trial, the parties presented competing expert testimony regarding whether MDMA is an *analog* of methamphetamine. (*Silver*, *supra*, 230 Cal.App.3d at pp. 392-393.) Among other things, the experts compared the molecular structure and physiological effect of the two drugs. (*Id.* at pp. 392-393, 396.) On appeal, the court concluded that testimony expressly comparing MDMA to an enumerated controlled substance was sufficient

evidence to support a jury conviction. (*Id.* at p. 396.) However, contrary to appellant's argument, *Silver* did not state, or even suggest, that testimony from an expert was *necessary* to uphold a conviction on appeal. There is also no language from the appellate court requiring any specific form of evidence in order to demonstrate sufficient evidence. Moreover, in *Silver*, the prosecution sought to classify MDMA as an *analog* of methamphetamine pursuant to section 11401—not to establish that MDMA was, in fact, a controlled substance because it *contained* an enumerated controlled substance pursuant to section 11055, subdivision (d).

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